### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FI

JUL 5 1989

CLERK, SUPNEME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. 72,027

v.

PAUL A. CAILLAUD,

Respondent.

#### THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

PAUL A. GROSS Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 211 Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about March 6, 1986, the Respondent pled guilty to four counts of a seventeen count indictment in Case No. 98-85, Sullivan County, New York (Complainant's Ex. 2, 3 and 7). This involved violations of Section 6512 of the New York Education Law in that Respondent "did knowingly, unlawfully and intentionally practice medicine and/or held himself out as being able to practice medicine...", a "Class E" felony (RR-1) See Appendix Exhibit "A". On or about April 24, 1986, the Respondent was sentenced to a five year period of probation on each of the four counts, said sentences of probation to run concurrently (Complainant's Ex. 8).

On or about June 12, 1986, The Florida Bar filed a Notice of Felony Conviction resulting in Respondent being automatically suspended as of July 23, 1986 (Complainant's Ex. 1). On February 8, 1988, a Complaint and Request for Admissions were filed pursuant to Rule 3-7.2(i) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. On March 10, 1988 a Certificate of Service for the Complaint and Request for Admissions was filed by The Florida Bar. On or about March 23, 1988, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Florida appointed Judge Stephen R. Booher as referee in said case. On April 15, 1988, Respondent filed an answer and affirmative defenses to The Florida Bar's Complaint. On April 22, 1988, The Florida Bar filed a Response to Respondent's Affirmative Defenses.

On May 3, 1988, Respondent filed his Response to Request for Admissions. On May 11, 1988, The Florida Bar submitted its Reply to Respondent's Response to Requests for Admissions. On May 14, 1988, Respondent filed a Request for Production of Documents. On May 25, 1988 The Florida Bar filed its Response to Respondent's Request for Production of Documents. On May 27, 1988, Respondent filed his Response to Request for Admissions. On June 21, 1988, a Stipulation for Waiver of Venue was filed. (T.1 - pages 3 and 4)

Final hearings were held concerning the above-mentioned case at Broward County on July 1, 1988, September 16, 1988 and October 21, 1988 (RR-1) See Appendix Exhibit "A". The Report of Referee 0was mailed to this Court on or about April 4, 1989 (RR-8). The Referee found Respondent guilty of article XI, Rule 11.02(3)(b) of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar (misconduct constituting a felony or misdemeanor) and Rule 1-102(A)(4) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation) of the Code of Professional Responsibility in that Respondent misrepresented himself as a physician or allowed himself to be represented as a physician by others. However, the Referee specifically made a finding that there was no sexual impropriety and no moral turpitude involved in the acts which precipitated the New York charges against the Respondent. (RR-4).

The Florida Bar requested that Respondent be disbarred. (RR-4). The Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for three years, nunc pro tunc to March 6,

1986. Further, the Referee did not recommend that Respondent be required to show proof of rehabilitation prior to being reinstated stating that he did not "recommend that this be made a condition of the Respondent's discipline because I am satisfied of his present fitness to resume the practice of law.'' (RR 5-6). On June 8, 1989 The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review contesting the Referee's recommendation that proof of rehabilitation not be made a condition of Respondent's discipline.

# 8

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During the Summer of 1985, Respondent did knowingly, unlawfully and intentionally practice medicine and/or hold himself out as being able to practice medicine while employed as camp director at the Forestburgh Scout Reservation in Sullivan County, New York. Respondent administered a physical exam on one person and treated a sore throat of another by taking a throat culture which he represented he would take to a hospital and obtain the results, diagnosing an infection of the larynx and administering a hypodermic syringe containing what was represented to be an antibiotic. Respondent treated another person for a purported ulcer by administering an oral anesthetic or pain killer and then catheterizing the person for the alleged purpose of taking a culture. Respondent treated another person for chest pains and administered an EKG and several injections of adrenalin for the purpose of regulating the heartbeat while also prescribing and giving oral medication (P 8-11, Complainant's Ex. 4).

On August 28, 1985, the Grand Jury of the County of Sullivan, New York, indicted Respondent on 17 counts of the Unauthorized Practice of Medicine in Indictment No. 98-85. On March 6, 1986, as part of a plea agreement, Respondent entered a plea of guilty to four counts (6, 7, 9 and 11) of the Indictment with the State



dismissing the remaining counts (P-2, Ex. 4). On April 24, 1986, Respondent was sentenced to a five year period of probation on each of the four counts, said sentences of probation to run concurrently [(T. 10, 11) Complainant's Ex. 3 and 7]. The Respondent was discharged from probation on March 8, 1989. See Appendix Exhibit "C".

# SUM! OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendation that the Respondent not be required to show proof of rehabilitation is contrary to Rule 3-5.1(e) of the Rules of Discipline.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FAILING TO REQUIRE PROOF OF REHABILITATION THROUGH REINSTATEMENT PROCEEDINGS AS REQUIRED BY RULE 3-5.1(e), RULES OF DISCIPLINE

While the Referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct, it is a well established point of law in Florida that the Florida Supreme Court is not bound by the referee's recommendation of the discipline to be imposed. The Florida Bar v. Weaver, 356 SO. 2d 797 (Fla. 1978), The Florida Bar v. Mueller, 351 So.2d 960 (Fla. 1977).

In his Report, the Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for three years, <u>nunc pro tunc</u> to March 6, 1986. However, the Referee failed to recommend that Respondent be required to show proof of rehabilitation prior to being reinstated, stating: "I do not recommend that this be made a condition of the Respondent's discipline because I am satisfied of his present fitness to resume the practice of law." (RR 5-6). See Appendix Exhibit "A".

Rule 3-5.1(e) of the Rules of Discipline mandates that "a suspension of more than ninety days shall require proof of rehabilitation." In The Florida Bar v. Pavlick, 504 So.2d 1231,

1235, (Fla. 1987) the Florida Supreme Court held that the referee erred in recommending automatic reinstatement following a two year suspension. In The Florida Bar v. Musleh, 453 So.2d 794, 797 (Fla. 1984), the Florida Supreme Court held that the Referee overlooked the Florida Bar's Disciplinary Rules in recommending automatic reinstatement at the end of a six-month suspension since such Rules require proof of rehabilitation for reinstatement after any suspension of more than ninety days. Accordingly, in the case at bar, the Referee's recommendation that proof of rehabilitation not be made a condition of Respondent's discipline is in error.

While The Florida Bar v. Pavlick, supra and The Florida Bar v. Musleh, supra, cite article XI, Rule 11.10(4) of The Florida Bar Integration Rule, for authority which requires rehabilitation when a Respondent is suspended for more than three months, the new rule, Rule 3-5.1(e), Rules of Discipline is substantially the same. Rule 3-5.1(e), states: "a suspension of than ninety (90)days shall require of more proof rehabilitation..".

A trial by referee for violations of the Code of Professional Responsibility or Rules of Professional Conduct, is different than a trial before a Referee concerning a petition for reinstatement. Therefore, the referee at the grievance hearing should not be permitted to consider whether the Respondent has been rehabilitated for purposes of reinstatement as a member of The Florida Bar in good standing.

The war are difficile. The fast that a required

Reinstatement proceedings are different in that the Bar Counsel in such proceedings is required to conduct an extensive investigation to determine whether the Respondent has been rehabilitated. In reinstatement proceedings, the Respondent must supply The Florida Bar with detailed information as described in Rule 3-7.9(n)(2) of the Rules of Discipline. In addition, The Florida Bar Reinstatement Manual requires the Bar Counsel to take certain actions, prior to the final hearing before a referee. See Appendix Exhibit "B" for appropriate portions of The Florida Bar Reinstatement Manual.

Accordingly, the Bar Counsel at the trial level of this case did not have the opportunity of obtaining the information concerning rehabilitation, as required by Rule 3-7.9, Rules of Discipline and The Florida Bar Reinstatement Manual. Therefore, the referee did not receive evidence from The Florida Bar concerning these matters.

Based upon the foregoing, the Referee erred when he recommended that the Respondent be readmitted as a member in good standing without requiring proof of rehabilitation, as described in Rule 3-7.9(n) (2) of the Rules of Discipline. 9

### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing citations to authority and case law, the Referee's recommendation that proof of rehabilitation not be made a condition of Respondent's discipline must be rejected and Respondent shall be required to offer clear and convincing proof of rehabilitation pursuant to Rule 3-5.1 (e) and Rule 3-7.9 (n) (2), Rules of Discipline.