4,16	
IN THE	SUPREME COURT	OF FLORIDA S	
IDA BAR, AINANT,	Supreme	CLEFK, By Court Case	Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR, COMPLAINANT,

PAUL A. CAILLAUD, RESPONDENT.

----/

v.

ALCON ALC

ì

ł

ŧ

Ì

were success week allow

.

RRSPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Faul A. Caillaud, pro se 12208 Southwest 194 Terrace Miami, Florida, 33177 (305) 255-8946

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent does not object to the Statement of the Case as set forth in TFB Brief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 28, 1985, Respondent was indicted by the Grand Jury of the County of Sullivan, State of New York, for **Violation of the** provisions of Section 6512, Education Code, New York Statutes, (engaging in the practice of a profession for which a license was required). On February 1, 1986, Respondent voluntarily ceased the active practice of law. (T.3-91,97; RR-5). As part of a plea agreement entered into March 6, 1986, Respondent pleaded guilty to violation of Section 6512, supra, and was placed on probation for the minimum period permitted under New York statutes. On February 8, 1988, TFB filed it's Complaint seeking discipline. On March 8, 1989, Respondent was discharged from probation. Shortly thereafter, on April 4, 1989, the Referee submitted his Report of Referee.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When a duly and lawfully appointed Referee has taken and considered evidence relating to a disciplined attorney's legal ability and ethical character, and bar counsel has been afforded full opportunity to examine any and all evidence and witnesses pertaining to the attorney's legal ability and ethical standards at trial, there is no legal requirement mandating а separate and distinct reinstatement proceeding if the disciplined attorney has clearly convincingly demonstrated, and to the satisfaction of the Referee, his rehabilitation and fitness to resume the practice of law.

ARGUMENT

THE INTEGRATION RULE OF THE FLORIDA BAR; THE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY NOR THE RULES OF DISCIPLINE OF THE FLORIDA BAR MANDATE OR REQUIRE A SEPARATE AND DISTINCT HEARING OR PROCEEDING ON REINSTATEMENT OF A DISCIPLINED ATTORNEY WHEN A REFEREE, DULY AND LAWFULLY APPOINTED BY THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA, IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE, FAIRNESS AND JUDICIAL ECONOMY, HAS TAKEN AND DULY CONSIDERED EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE ATTORNEY'S FITNESS TO RESUME THE PRACTICE OF LAW AS A PART OF THE FINAL HEARING, AND THE RECOMMENDED PERIOD OF DISCIPLINE HAS EXPIRED

It is a well established principle in the body of Florida attorney disciplinary law that a suspension of more than 90 days should require the disciplined attorney to present proof of his rehabilitation such that this Court may be assured of his personal and professional integrity. Article XI, Rule 11.10(4), Florida Bar Integration Rule; Rule 3-5.1(e), Rules of Discipline;

The Florida Bar v. Pavlick, 504 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 1987);

The Florida Bar v. Musleh, 453 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1984). There is no requirement, however, in any common, statutory or administrative body of law in Florida that "mandates" a separate or distinct hearing on rehabilitation as it relates to attorney reinstatement.

The Report of Referee herein concerned is a carefully drafted and well reasoned document, formulated after the

critical review of over six hundred pages of documentation generated over a period of three years. It incorporates facts obtained through over fourteen hours of testimony and legal argument, and is entitled to a strictly recognized presumption of accuracy and correctness. The Florida Bar v. Price, 478 So.2d. 812 (Fla. 1985). This point is emphasized due to the very broad latitude allowed both TFB and Respondent during the course of discovery and the final hearings conducted before the referee. Evidence concerning Respondents actions predicating discipline, attitude and demeanor towards his prosecution and discipline, moral and ethical standards, psychological condition (both at the time of his actions and at present), community reputation and legal competence was taken and considered by the referee In short, there is nothing TFB wanted to know or herein. that was not clearly, accurately and willingly ask addressed by Respondent, notwithstanding the assertion of TFB. TFB Brief-9. The Florida Bar was not, to paraphrase the learned Justice Erlich, "cut off at the pass". <u>Pavlick</u>, supra.

Article XI Rule 11.10(4), Florida Bar Integration Rule, and Rule 3-5.1(e), Rules of Discipline, set forth a requirement designed to insure the public that an attorney who has been the object of discipline is fully capable, both technically and ethically, to resume the

active practice of law. It is anticipated that the attorney who has been disciplined be subject to further scrutiny prior to his reinstatement to insure that he has, indeed, fully complied with the disciplinary order. He has been "rehabilitated" to such a degree that the public can be assured of his integrity and the legal profession can be assured it's duty to police it's own has been satisfied.

In the usual course of disciplinary proceedings, this is a routine matter and works no additional hardship upon the disciplined attorney as he is able to petition for reinstatement prior to completion of his disability, and, thus, be reinstated, if appropriate, without undue and additional delay past the ordered disciplinary period. This is not, however, a usual disciplinary proceeding.

A Notice of Felony Conviction was filed approximately six weeks after Respondent was sentenced to a probationary period, yet almost two years elapsed before TFB filed a complaint and the matter progressed to final hearing. The Report of Referee was filed one month after the recommended period of discipline, three years, had passed, and this point was specifically addressed by the Referee in his report. (RR-7). TFB now asserts, after the recommended disciplinary period has expired, that the Report of Referee is erroneous, not because of any

substantive difficulty but because, TFB suggests, the referee failed to comply with the procedural requirements of the Rules of Discipline. It is Respondent's respectful assertion that the referee did, in fact and law, fully comply with both the letter and the spirit of the Rules of Discipline.

final hearings conducted before the referee, The as previously noted, were extensive. They incorporated over fourteen hours of testimony (RR-4) and covered a wide range of topics including but certainly not confined to those considerations set down by this Court as important to the issue of rehabilitation. These considerations derive from a long line of cases. E.g., In Re Dawson, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla, 1961); Petition of Wolf. 257 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1972); and, more recently, The Florida Bar 38 (Fla, 1985); The Florida In Re Inglis, 471 So.2d Bar In Re Sickmen, 523 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988). This Court has noted six points to be evaluated in the assessment of an attorney seeking reinstatement:

- Full compliance with the conditions imposed in the previous disciplinary judgement;
- 2. Unimpeachable character;
- 3. A reputation for professional ability;
- Lack of malice towards those responsible for the previous disciplinary action;
- 5. A repentant attitude concerning the

earlier wrongdoing and a strong resolution to adhere to principles of correct conduct; and

 Restitution to persons harmed by the earlier misconduct. <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>In Re Sickmen</u>, supra.

A review of the transcripts of the final hearings before the referee reveals that each and every applicable point enumerated above was addressed and considered by the Referee prior to the formulation of his Report. The first point, compliance with the previous disciplinary order, does not apply as this Court has not yet entered a formal disciplinary order. The second point, demonstration of unimpeachable character, was thoroughly addressed at the final hearing through the testimony of three prominent attorneys who were personally acquainted with Respondent, Respondent's employer and leqal secretary, and Respondent's psychologist. In total, over 670 questions were posed to these witnesses by the Referee, bar counsel, and Respondent's co-counsel, primarily addressed to Respondent's character and legal (T.1-67-158); Point ability. (RR-5), three, demonstration of professional ability, was similarly evidenced through testimony of witnesses familiar with Respondent's work, (T.1-67-98); stipulation of bar counsel, (T.3-34); and observation of the Referee. (T.3-89); (RR-6). The fourth point, demonstration of lack of malice towards those responsible for the

previous disciplinary action was addressed throughout the proceeding both in correspondence with TFB (now forming a part of the record below) and the Referee. (RR-5). The fifth point, demonstration of a repentenant attitude, was extensively addressed throughout the final (RR-5-6); hearings, as the Referee so found. (T.2-174-181). The sixth and final point, restitution to persons harmed by the misconduct, does not apply as no injury, financial or physical, was worked through Respondent's actions.

This Court has held that reinstatement criteria may be summed-up in two components: good moral character, personal integrity, and special fitness for a position of trust and confidence, and professional competence and ability. <u>The Florida Bar In Re Inglis</u>, supra.. These criteria have been met through the presentation of evidence, a thorough consideration thereof, and a formal recommendation by the Referee. Rehabilitation has thus been demonstrated clearly and convincingly. RR-6. There are other factors to consider, however.

The first factor concerns the aim of a reinstatement proceeding and the policy therein effected. From a practical standpoint, a reinstatement proceeding simply provides a neutral arbiter to consider whether or not a disciplined attorney has fully complied with the terms of

a disciplinary order. More importantly, however, as this Court noted in The Florida Bar v. Thompson, 500 (Fla,1986), a reinstatement proceeding So.2d 1335 "...imposes upon a lawyer the responsibility of taking affirmative action during the period of suspension in order to gain readmittance at the end of the period". Id. This policy has been satisfied because at 1336. Respondent took responsibility for his rehabilitation even before TFB filed it's Complaint. His voluntary withdrawal from the active practice of law, active participation in appropriate counseling, and personal conduct throughout the pendency of these proceedings reflects this, as the Referee noted. RR-5-5. No positive purpose will be served by requiring Respondent to now petition for reinstatement, and therein submit to а self-same questioning revisitation of the as was conducted during the final hearing only two months ago simply to exemplify a procedural step TFB suggests to be requisite.

There is a second important consideration. While TFB correctly states that this Court is not bound by the referee's recommendation of discipline to be imposed, (citations omitted), (TFB Brief-71, the report of the referee is entitled to a presumption of correctness. The Florida Bar V. Price, supra., unless the party seeking review, herein TFB, can demonstrate that the

report is clearly erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. Rule 3-7.6(c)(5), Rules of Discipline. TFB and the Board of Governors thereof had the opportunity to review the Report of Referee, and determined it to be lawful and correct in all respects save one which is best characterized as an asserted procedural defect. Thus, it can be accurately stated that TFB agrees with and supports the Report of Referee in all material or substantive respects as it assigned as error only that aspect dealing with proof of rehabilitation. Under the Rules of Discipline, this Court, though clearly possessed of the authority and, indeed, the obligation to review all recommendations imposing suspension of an attorney, (Rule 3-7.6(a)(2), Rules of Discipline.), is bound - to enter the conclusions contained in the Report of Referee the disciplinary measures imposed by this Court, as unless the Court otherwise directs the parties to submit briefs or oral argument directed to the suitability of the disciplinary measure recommended by the teferee, or if review is sought. Rule **3-7.6(c)(6),** Rules of Discipline. If review is sought, this Court may consider the arguments of the parties as they effect those points assigned as error, but the remainder of the report should be adopted as the order of this Court, again, presuming it to be correct. As the Report of Referee herein recommended a suspension for a fixed and maximum period of time commencing March 6, 1986, (RR-5), and neither

this time period nor sanction was assigned as error by TFB, it must be presumed correct and should be the Order of this Court. Since no suspension may be entered for a period in excess of three years, (Rule 3-5(e), Rules of Discipline), the suspension recommended by the referee should be given effect by this Court which suspension in fact terminated, by operation of law, March 6, 1989. As the period of suspension has been fully served, and the suspension terminated, it is not necessary for Respondent to further petition for reinstatement as he has been reinstated by natural expiration of the suspension order. The Florida Bar v. Evans, 109 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1959).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the above and foregoing law and argumentation, Respondent has demonstrated, by clear and convincing evidence, his rehabilitation and completion of the disciplinary period recommended, and should be formally reinstated to the active practice of law in the State of Florida without further proof of rehabilitation.